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St Moluag: detail from a stained-glass memorial window in the east gable of Lismore Parish Church, by the leading Scottish designer of her era: Mary Isobel Wood (1886–1975).
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Introduction


One Thousand Years from Moluag


In the afternoon of 9 February 1567, four of Scotland’s earls (Argyll, Bothwell, Huntly and Casillis) joined Mary Queen of Scots at James Hamilton’s house in the Edinburgh Canongate for a banquet in honour of Count Moretta, the Ambassador of Savoy. By seven o’clock they had moved on to Kirk o’Field to keep company with Mary’s husband, Lord Darnley, only a few hours before he was murdered. James Hamilton was able to mix in such exalted company because he was a member of one of the most powerful families in the land: his half-brother, the 2nd Earl of Arran and Duke of Châtelherault, had for several years been Governor of Scotland during Mary’s absence in France, and he had a strong claim to the throne.


James Hamilton was also Bishop of Argyll. His illegitimacy, his married status and the fact that he was probably not an ordained priest, had not prevented him from being (unsuccessfully) nominated for the archbishopric of Glasgow in 1547 and being appointed to the Argyll diocese in 1553. Another brother, also illegitimate, was already Archbishop of St Andrews. At the reforming parliament in 1560, James voted for the abolition of the Roman Catholic Church in Scotland and converted to Protestantism, still retaining the position of bishop. It is unlikely that he ever visited his cathedral on Lismore, particularly since the focus of the diocese had moved to Dunoon by the middle of the fifteenth century; his lack of interest in Argyll is shown by the 1556 sale of the Bishop’s Castle at Saddell in Kintyre to his half-brother. He was married to Janet Murray, with whom he had three sons and, benefiting from another position as subdean at Glasgow Cathedral, he appears to have enjoyed the high life in the Lowlands until his death in 1580. Thomas Randolph, Queen Elizabeth’s confidential agent at the court of Queen Mary, reporting on the licentious behaviour of senior clergy in Scotland in the 1560s, mentions the Bishop of Lismore, who ‘now has two women with child besides his wife’.1


A thousand years earlier, Moluag, an Irish missionary from the monastery in Bangor, County Down, had arrived with a group of followers on Lismore, full of resolve to bring the good news of Christianity to the island, and further afield on the mainland. There could not be a starker contrast between the austerity of their lives in these early years of evangelism and that of the indulgent James Hamilton. What had happened in the intervening centuries to bring the Church to such a low ebb? This book follows the rise and fall of the Roman Catholic bishopric of Argyll from its foundation around 1200 on Lismore, exploring Lismore’s long reputation as a holy island and the continuing veneration of Moluag (later known as St Moluag, although there is no record of canonisation); through the period of building the cathedral (completed before 1400); the roles of the Dominican bishops; the years of prestige, when leading families invested in elaborately carved graveslabs; the lean years when the finances of the diocese were strained; the struggles to keep going through decades of war, civil unrest, despoilation, famine and plague; and the withdrawal of the bishop – but not all of the clergy – from Lismore to Dunoon from the mid fifteenth century. Even at the physical fringes of Scotland and Europe, the diocese was deeply affected by events on the national and international scene.


Before dealing with the cathedral and its clergy, however, the book tells the unfolding story of Moluag’s monastery, recently rediscovered by community archaeology. Little has been written about the monastery and the cathedral on Lismore, and this work is timely in view of the proposal of the Church of Scotland to dispose of Lismore Parish Church (the surviving choir of the medieval cathedral), possibly to community ownership.





__________


1 Bain (1898), Vol. 1, p. 592.
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The Insular Church and Lismore


Christianity reached Ireland in the mid fifth century, traditionally by the mission of St Patrick from Cumbria or Wales in the last years of the Roman occupation of Britain, although there may have been a role for St Palladius. Speculation abounds about the reasons for the successful advance of the Church throughout the island, while northern Britain beyond the Forth–Clyde line remained pagan, in spite of the activities of the shadowy St Ninian/Nynia. These include the Church’s willingness to adopt pre-Christian sites, practices and saints; the identification of Christ with the warrior gods of the Celtic world; the decline of existing religious practices; and the suggestion that the new religion, with its well-developed hierarchy, suited the ambitions and world view of the ruling class. Christianity offered a coherent narrative of life and death, a rich tapestry of ritual and seasonal festivals, and a structure for the support of society, but, as it evolved, it also facilitated the exercise of authority and the concentration of power. The priests of the Early Church may have preached peace, notably Adomna n’s Law of the Innocents, which aimed to protect non-combatants, but history shows that this had little effect in curbing the violence of the times.


The collapse of the Roman Empire in western Europe and the movement of pagan Anglo-Saxons into England did not cut Ireland off from continental Europe, because people and cultures had moved freely by sea along the Atlantic fringe for thousands of years. New monastic ideas were an important factor in the development of Christianity in Ireland, and they may well have arrived there directly from important centres of monasticism around the Mediterranean or from the west coast of Gaul or Iberia, as had aspects of language and culture.


There is no evidence that the Early Church in Ireland was particularly heterodox in terms of belief and theology, and there were no accusations of heresy. Indeed, before the end of the sixth century, Irish missionaries were encouraged to spread across northern Europe, even into Italy. Although not isolated from the continent, the Church in Ireland (the Insular Church) evolved its own particular structure, liturgy and ritual. For the Roman Church, at that time absorbed in survival in the face of incursions by Germanic tribes and Lombards, and pressure in the east from Byzantium, dictating uniformity at the margins of the Christian world was not yet a priority.


The organisational structure of the Insular Church in Ireland and, particularly, the relative importance of bishops and abbots, has been the subject of considerable debate. Abbots had a secular role, with responsibility for the management of the assets of the monasteries, which were the towns of pre-Viking Ireland. They were commonly from the ruling class, and their position (as coarbs) could be hereditary. Bishops were consecrated priests, with primary responsibility for the sacramental activities of the monastery (baptism, marriage, confirmation, the Mass, penance, anointing the sick and dying, and ordaining priests). Uncertainties may have arisen where individuals abused their positions and, in some cases (e.g. later in Iona), the roles may have been combined. It is not clear to what extent, if any, the Pope was able to influence the appointment of senior clergy in these early years.


A little is known about the distinctive characteristics of the Insular Church (the tonsure of the clergy; the degree of celibacy; methods of calculating the dates of religious festivals from the lunar calendar; forms of dress and ritual, including fasting and the celebration of Mass; acceptance of extreme austerity by monks in pursuit of the rules of poverty, chastity and obedience; and the veneration of a constellation of local saints), but it had five lasting impacts on Christendom and European culture: an early promotion of literacy; the preservation of documents, including records of events (annals – invaluable to modern scholars, as no contemporary documentation from what was to become Scotland has survived); a strong tradition of biblical scholarship; a very substantial body of artwork, notably illuminated manuscripts, but also carving and metalwork; and a revolution in dealing with penance. Until then, there had been an emphasis on the public humiliation of repentant sinners (‘sackcloth and ashes’), but the Irish Church promoted a new approach involving confession to a priest in confidence, and the private performance of the appropriate penance.


With Christianity established across Ireland in the sixth century, energetic priests of the Insular Church began to show an interest in mission fields overseas, in pagan England and Wales as well as the northern part of Dalriada, and Pictland (covering more than half of the mainland of modern Scotland). The monastery at Bangor in the east of Ulster, founded by Comgall (c. 510/520–597/602), was active in this mission work, although there is uncertainty about whether this included the dispatch of Moluag and his team to Lismore around 560. Towards the end of the century, Columbanus left Bangor on a mission to revive Christianity on mainland Europe, living an adventurous life full of controversy in Burgundy, the Alps and Lombardy, before founding a new monastery at Bobbio in Italy in 614. Maelrubha, another priest educated at Bangor, was responsible for establishing the Insular Church monastery at Applecross in 673.


Columba (originally Crimthan), a high-ranking member of the powerful Ui Neill dynasty, originated in the north-west of Ireland and studied in Leinster. He is said to have left Ireland for Iona for a different reason: as an act of penance for his involvement in the events leading up to the Battle of Cúl Dreimhne in 561 (although the circumstances remain uncertain). He acted effectively as both abbot and bishop of the new monastery on the island, at a daughter house on Tiree, on the unidentified island of Hinba and probably on the shores of Loch Awe. He later founded monasteries back in Ireland. Because of the survival of a biography, or rather a hagiography, of Columba, written within a century of his death by his kinsman Adomna n, his story, enhanced by a plethora of later legends, has dominated the understanding of the mission activity of the Insular Church in Scotland. Recent research has indicated that this simplifies a complex period. For example, Fraser (2009) explores the idea that Iona concentrated on southern Pictland (Atholl and Perthshire), possibly leaving areas further north to the Bangor-inspired missionaries.


The idea that the outreach of Moluag and his followers was mainly in north-east Pictland, establishing centres of evangelism at Rosemarkie and Mortlach, draws heavily on the sixteenth-century Aberdeen Breviary. A review of place names and church dedications to St Moluag, as he became, which appear in the Hebrides (Skye, Raasay, Tiree, Lewis, Harris and Mull), mainland Argyll and several places in Aberdeenshire, tends to present a different picture, indicating that the ‘cult’ of Moluag may have been more widespread; for example, even as late as 1507, a grant to the Bishop of Argyll by James IV2 was made ‘on account of the singular devotion which he bore towards the blessed confessor Saint Moloc, patron of the cathedral church of Lismore’.


By the eighth century, Insular Church monasteries had been established across most of the mainland of what would become Scotland, and Christianity was the religion of the ruling classes, at least notionally. Mapping of the early Christian monuments in Argyll (Fig. 2.1) shows that the Church was not isolated at a few monastic sites where the clergy turned their backs on the world. There were hermits, living on isolated islets, but the majority of the contemporary structures that have been recognised were modest churches within an enclosure, distributed densely and evenly throughout the low-lying areas where most of the population would have lived.3 It appears that a parish structure was established early, close to the people and their needs, both spiritual and practical; indeed, it could be argued that some areas have never since been so well served by the Church.


Meanwhile, the ‘Roman’ version of Christianity had been advancing rapidly following Augustine’s arrival in Kent in 597 with a mission from the Pope to convert the pagan Anglo-Saxons. Faced with a choice between the Roman and Insular Churches, King Oswald of Northumbria invited Aidan from Iona in 635 to establish a monastery on Lindisfarne, as a base for the evangelisation of the north of what would become England. The Insular Church was also influential in Wales and in other parts of Anglo-Saxon England wherever Irish missionaries had been at work. The stage was set for a confrontation that would have a major effect on the development of the Church in Scotland.


At its peak, the kingdom of Northumbria extended from the Humber to the Forth, and included much of modern Lancashire and Cumbria, but the heartland was Deira (loosely, Yorkshire) and Bernicia (Durham and Northumberland). Before Oswald, from the ruling house of Bernicia, reunited these two areas, Edwin, King of Deira, had opted for the Roman Church. Consequently, when Oswui succeeded Oswald and secured peace for a time by marrying a daughter of Edwin, husband and wife worshipped according to different rites. At Easter, the high point of the Christian calendar, one royal faction would be proclaiming the resurrection of Christ while the other was still fasting during Lent. With Deira tending to favour the Roman rights and Bernicia committed to the Insular Church, tension grew until, after the death of Aidan, Oswui called a synod, mainly of Northumbrian clergy, at the monastery of Streonshalh (Whitby) in 664 to resolve the issue of the method of calculating the date of Easter. There were no fundamental differences of theology between the two parties – it appears to have been mainly a conflict about power and authority, at a time when uniformity across the Christian community was becoming important.
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Fig. 2.1 Distribution of Insular Church structures in Argyll diocese. (Based on a map from Meredith-Lobay, 2009)





In the resulting debate, Wilfrid, the leading Roman spokesman, proved to be more persuasive than Colman, the abbot of the Ionan monastery, and the synod found in favour of the Roman Church. Colman and many of his supporters withdrew to Iona, and were succeeded by Benedictine monks at Wearmouth (674) and Jarrow (681). The decline of the Insular Church across the British Isles may not have been as abrupt as depicted by Bede in his Ecclesiastical History of the English People, but King Nechtan is said to have expelled its clergy from Pictland by 717, and in 729 Iona was persuaded to adopt Roman usage. The Insular Church maintained a last bastion in northern Ireland; even as late as 1200, a party of Irish priests crossed the North Channel to attack the new Benedictine abbey that was being established on Iona.


The Early Church Monastery on Lismore4



There are several spectacular legends about St Moluag, including his voyage aboard a stone across the North Channel, along with 12 disciples; his ability to do blacksmithing work with rushes as fuel; and a mission to Thule. It is important to recognise that these miracles were not intended to be factual in the modern sense, but to express favourable attributes of the saint – ‘devotional truth’. The oft-related coracle race around 560, when Moluag and Columba were competing to claim Lismore and Moluag established his priority by throwing his severed finger ashore, appears to be a nineteenth-century myth, possibly concocted by the folklorist Alexander Carmichael and drawing on a range of examples of detached body parts in Irish legends. We would know more about the life and achievements of Moluag if an early hagiography, referred to by later writers, had survived.


Setting aside these myths and legends, Moluag’s obituary and the lists of abbots in the Irish records up to around 760 provide reliable evidence of an Early Church presence on Lismore. In spite of this, until recently there was nothing to indicate the actual site of Moluag’s monastery or what it was like. Drawing on experience elsewhere in Argyll, and further afield in Scotland, there are several diagnostic signs of the existence of an Early Church monastic settlement on Lismore (Fig. 2.2; Plates 1, 2).
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Fig. 2.2 Sketch map of the monastic site, Lismore





Burials


The first real clue to the site of the monastery was provided during the excavations, around 1980, for the foundations of the new church house south of the church, which encountered a great deal of human bone. It was not until nearly 40 years later, in 2018, that community fieldwork, led by Dr Clare Ellis of Argyll Archaeology, with modest funding, began to follow up this clue in the low-lying glebe field east of the church. Tackling persistent flooding of trenches, and with the campaign punctuated by the Covid pandemic, the team at last began to uncover the monastic site, recovering more than 1,500 significant finds over three seasons of digging. Their full relevance will not be understood until professional analyses are complete and published. Excavation of the slightly higher ground around the church house revealed extensive human burials, with excellent bone preservation owing to the lime-rich soils. A first radiocarbon date of an intact skeleton, within an earlier cemetery wall, gave a broadly seventh/eighth-century date, which takes occupation of the site back to within a generation of the proposed arrival of Moluag on Lismore around 560.


Stone Markers/Crosses


Before the archaeological investigation, three relevant monuments had been recorded (Fig. 2.2). Two fragments of a c. eighth-century cross, found near the church, are on display in the museum of the Lismore Historical Society, and a crude granite cross, known locally as the Sanctuary Stone, standing below the south graveyard, has traditionally been considered to be a church boundary stone (although recent excavation indicates that it may have been relocated in historic times). Living rock near the top of the graveyard, with a carefully excavated depression (not a cup mark), is known as the baptism stone or font. Excavation across the site has now yielded three separate fragments of richly carved stone cross slabs, with decorative styles that match stones from northern Pictland (at Portmahomack, Applecross, Nigg and Rosemarkie).


Buildings


Before 2018, it was speculated that the monastic chapel was probably under the medieval cathedral, although it was recognised that there must have been more than one building, including at least basic accommodation for the clergy. The wet rushy area below the Early Church cemetery looked very unpromising for a settlement, but a thorough geophysical survey in 20195 suggested the presence of buildings, indicating that the area must have been drier in earlier times. Excavation uncovered the foundations of an oval drystone building (‘roundhouse’, external diameter 8m; Plate 2b), which had been subject to fire, and possibly rebuilt more than once. Radiocarbon-dating has now placed it firmly in the eighth century. It is hoped that the role of this building will be revealed by the post-excavation analysis of the finds but, so far, no traces have been found of the monastic chapel. It is possible that further buildings lie under the areas that were inaccessible for the geophysical survey (Fig. 2.2).


Metal-working Area


The geophysical survey also revealed a rectangular feature to the east of the roundhouse. Recovery of 127 small crucibles from the area, mostly fragments but also some rare intact examples, and 742 fragments of casting moulds, showed that this was the site of fine metal-working, including the manufacture of penannular brooches. X-ray fluorescence studies6 have revealed that, although most of the crucibles were used for melting copper alloys, some were used for silver or gold. A search of the collection of artefacts in the National Museum of Scotland provided confirmation of the use of gold: a touchstone for assaying gold alloys7 found near the cathedral in the nineteenth century. The area also yielded fine examples of carving of wood, antler and bone. These initial findings suggest that Lismore could well sit among the other established Early Church monasteries in Scotland (Iona, Portmahomack, Inchmarnock, Whithorn) where skilled craftsmen were attracted to serve both the needs of the church and local patrons of the monks. There are also close parallels with craftwork on the royal site at Dunadd, suggesting that Lismore was a destination in long-distance trading of valuable materials.


Enclosure


Most Early Church foundations that have been investigated in the Highlands and Islands, from isolated chapels to monastic settlements, were placed in an enclosure, defining the limits of their spiritual area. These were normally oval or round, demarcated by a bank and/or ditch (vallum) or wall (e.g. at Iona and Portmahomack). As the field boundaries on Lismore are almost uniformly rectilinear, the nearly round boundary surrounding Lismore Cathedral (later demarcating the church glebe: Plate 1; Fig. 2.2) has been proposed as the boundary of the Lismore monastery. Limited excavation of the steep north boundary in 2018 exposed a low turf bank without a ditch, whereas at three points on the level east boundary there was a well-laid cobbled pathway, around 0.8m wide. The preliminary interpretation of these findings is that the shallowness of the soil on Lismore and the presence of so much bedrock prevented the construction of a regular ditched and banked boundary, and that the enclosure would have been defined by a bank where practicable, and elsewhere by a hedge or wall with a paved path along its inner edge.


In conclusion, the location of part of the monastic settlement has been discovered, its importance as a centre of fine craftwork is being evaluated, but no progress has been made on finding Moluag’s chapel. The range of activities at the site suggests that, as in Ireland, the monastery formed the nucleus of village development.


From the eighth century to the twelfth century, a profound silence falls on the monastery on Lismore (apart from the existence of ninth/tenth-century burials). Were the Insular Church clergy expelled, as on Iona in 717? How was the monastic community affected by the arrival of the pagan Norse, who attacked Iona several times from 795 onwards, resulting in the relocation of the relics of Columba to Kells in Ireland and Dunkeld? Did a community of Céli Dé monks (Chapter 3) colonise the island after the Norse settlement? Without written records we may never know, but the results of archaeology can give some hints. For example, a burial in the ancient cemetery dated to the later Norse period suggests continuity of a Christian community. It is hoped that analyses of burials by the Crick Institute (DNA and radiocarbon-dating) will shed further light on the community after 800. Chapter 3 charts the progressive decline of Insular Church monasteries, north and west of the Forth–Clyde boundary, with bishops and Roman-style dioceses supplanting abbots and Insular-style monasteries.





__________


2 Origines, p. 22.


3 The remains of the simple rectangular chapel at Ardtaraig (9m × 4m) within a small walled enclosure on the shore of Loch Striven, Cowal, Argyll, is a clear example of the church buildings of the time.


4 This section draws on community archaeological work, funded by the Society of Antiquarians of Scotland, the Hunter Trust, the MacDougall Society of America, the MacDougall McCallum Society and a range of other supporters; a preliminary publication of the results is in preparation.


5 Ovenden (2019).


6 Gemma Cruickshanks, personal communication 2022. Publication in preparation.


7 National Museums Scotland (NMS) X.AL 17.










3


[image: ]


The Making of the
Medieval Church in Scotland


When David I, the eighth child and sixth son of Malcolm III (‘Canmore’) and Margaret (later to be recognised as a saint), finally became king of the emerging country of Scotland in 1124, he found a Church in transition, affected by two movements for ‘reform’ across Europe. First, for uniformity and conformity, it was now seen to be essential to have a strict hierarchical structure, with bishops subject to regional archbishops (metropolitans) and overall authority resting with the Pope; as the Church expanded, the structure was deployed to exert firm control over belief and behaviour, and to develop mechanisms for the prompt suppression of heresy. In the future Scotland, some dioceses were led by conventional bishops, while others adhered to traditions that had evolved out of the Insular Church, including administrative control by hereditary lay abbots (the coarbs). With the boundary between Scotland and England fluctuating, and uncertainty over whether the King of England was the feudal superior, the archbishops of Canterbury and York squabbled over who commanded spiritual authority in the north.


Secondly, new ideals of monasticism, emphasising the need to withdraw from the world and prepare for the afterlife, had spread through Europe from the Middle East. On mainland Europe, the first organised order of monks was established under the Rule of St Benedict at Monte Cassino in 529 and the next 500 years saw waves of renewal, as successive orders succumbed to worldly pressures. By the start of the twelfth century, parent monasteries in France and Burgundy were establishing colonies of Cluniac, Augustinian, Cistercian, Tironesian and Premonstratensian monks across Europe (each order with its unique rules), sponsored by kings and feudal lords. In Scotland they encountered another strain of monasticism, the Céli Dé (the Culdees), which had developed in parallel in Ireland out of the ideals of the desert hermits.


This chapter explores the background to the creation of the bishopric of Argyll on Lismore in the late twelfth century, carved out of the sprawling diocese of Dunkeld, apparently supplanting, or absorbing, a community of Céli Dé. It attempts to place the events in the context of contemporary developments elsewhere in Scotland, the British Isles and mainland Europe, and the underlying motives of kings and other powerful individuals.


The Development of the Roman Church in Scotland up to the Accession of David I (1124)


For around 300 years from the completion of Bede’s History at the monastery at Jarrow in 731 there is little documentary evidence of the development of the Roman Church in what was to become the kingdom of Scotland. Until the eastern boundary with England was fixed at the Tweed, traditionally associated with the Battle of Carham in 1018, the Church in Lothian was effectively part of the diocese of Durham, under the authority of the Archbishop of York; for the Borders lordship of Teviotdale, this association with Durham continued up to the time of David I. In fact, the shrine of St Cuthbert at Durham remained a popular destination for Scottish pilgrims throughout the medieval period.8 For example, in 1256 the Bishop of Durham issued a charter to Alan, Bishop of Argyll, relaxing 40 days of penance ‘to those visiting the feretory [portable shrine] of St Cuthbert or the Galilee [chapel at Durham Cathedral], for devotion or prayer, and to those leaving gifts to it’ (Plate 5). The widespread devotion to St Cuthbert in Scotland at that time is demonstrated by similar charters issued to the bishops of Brechin, Caithness, Dunblane, Dunkeld, Ross and St Andrews.9 By the mid eighth century, York had also taken over responsibility for the ancient centre of British Christianity at Whithorn, and possibly also in Strathclyde, on the evidence of the distribution of carved stones in the Anglian style.10
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